THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GEORGETOWN COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Honorable Steven H. John, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-001446

Case No. 2016-CP-22-00961

RECEIVED
NOV 25 2019
SC Court of Appeals

The Gulfstream Café, Inc., Respondent,

v.

J. Mark Lawhon, Individually, and
Palmetto Industrial Development, LLC, Appellants.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Wm. Grayson Lambert
BURR & FORMAN LLP
Post Office Box 11390
Columbia, S.C. 29211
(803) 799-9800

Henrietta U. Golding
BURR & FORMAN LLP
2411 Oak Street, Suite 206
Myrtle Beach, SC 29577
(843) 444-1107

Counsel for Appellants

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the injunction prohibited Palmetto Industrial and Lawhon from parking a golf cart in designated parking space, when the easements on which the injunction was based were joint and nonexclusive and allowed Palmetto Industrial to use any parking space at any time.
- II. Whether the evidence proves beyond a reasonable doubt that Palmetto Industrial and Lawhon violated the order, when they presented evidence undermining both Gulfstream's claimed harm from not being able to use the delivery gate and the willfulness of the supposed violation.
- III. Whether the circuit court wrongly denied the motion to reconsider as untimely.
- IV. Whether the circuit court's order holding Palmetto Industrial and Lawhon in criminal contempt provides this Court a sufficient explanation for its decision, when the order includes only a conclusory sentence that Palmetto Industrial and Lawhon had violated the order despite conflicting evidence in the record.

INTRODUCTION

Contempt is serious. So serious, in fact, that this Court has called it "an extreme measure" and warned circuit courts that "the power to find an individual in contempt is not to be lightly asserted." *Ex parte Kent*, 379 S.C. 633, 637, 666 S.E.2d 921, 923 (Ct. App. 2008). That power may be asserted only when an order clearly prohibits what a party did. *Welchel v. Boyter*, 260 S.C. 418, 421, 196 S.E.2d 496, 498 (1973). This is particularly the case with criminal contempt, which requires that a party's willful

disregard for a court order be proven beyond a reasonable doubt. *See DiMarco v. DiMarco*, 393 S.C. 604, 607, 713 S.E.2d 631, 633 (2011).

The circuit court's finding of criminal contempt in this case suffers from three flaws, any of which requires that finding to be reversed. The first flows from the circuit court's misreading of the easements on which the order was based. The circuit court held Palmetto Industrial and Lawhon in contempt for doing something that the order did not prohibit them from doing. The order contains no limits on where Palmetto Industrial and Lawhon can park, so parking the golf cart in a designated parking space, even one in front of The Gulfstream Café's delivery gate, could not have violated the order.

The second stems from the circuit court's ignoring evidence Palmetto Industrial and Lawhon presented that undermines Gulfstream's alleged harm. Gulfstream said that deliveries going through the front door caused too much wear on the floors, so the deliveries needed to go through the delivery gate. Yet even when no car blocked this delivery gate, some deliveries still did not go through the gate. This evidence raises reasonable doubt.

The third is found in the brevity of the order. Even if the order did limit where Palmetto Industrial and Lawhon could park, the order fails to explain how the conflicting evidence the parties submitted proves Palmetto Industrial and Lawhon violated the order beyond a reasonable doubt. The circuit court's single conclusory sentence does not give this Court a sufficient explanation to determine whether the circuit court abused its discretion in weighing the conflicting evidence.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Two Garden City restaurants share a parking lot.

Palmetto Industrial Development, LLC, whose sole member is Mark Lawhon, owns the Marlin Quay Marina. (R. p. ____ (Opp'n to Mot. for Temp. Inj., Aff. of M. Lawhown ¶¶ 1, 3).) The marina property includes a store and a restaurant, called the Marina Quay Marina Bar & Grill, which is run by Lawhon's son, Chris. (R. p. ____ (Opp'n to Mot. for Temp. Inj., Aff. of C. Lawhon ¶ 3.) Palmetto Industrial also owns the parking lot on the marina property. (R. pp. ____, ____ (Compl. ¶¶ 11, 20).)

The other restaurant is The Gulfstream Café. Located on the opposite side of the parking lot, Gulfstream does not own that parking lot, but instead it has four nonexclusive easements to use it, three from 1986 and one from 1990. (R. p. ____–____ (Compl. ¶¶ 14–17).) These easements identify two purposes for which Gulfstream may use the parking lot. First, Gulfstream may use the parking lot for “ingress, egress and vehicular parking.” (R. p. ____ (Compl. Ex. A, p. 3).) Second, it may use the parking lot for the “maintenance, repair, alteration and/or improvements” of its building. (R. pp. ____, ____, ____ (Pl.'s Mot. for Summ. J. Ex. B, p. 1; Ex. C, p. 1; Ex. D, p. 1).) Those easements are joint and nonexclusive, and Palmetto Industrial and Lawhon have the right to use the parking lot at any time. (R. pp. ____, ____, ____, ____ (Compl. Ex. A, p. 3; Pl.'s Mot. for Summ. J. Ex. B, p. 1; Ex. C, p. 1; Ex. D, p. 1).)

Gulfstream sues over the easements after Palmetto Industrial had torn down the old building.

After Palmetto Industrial purchased the marina property in 2014, it developed plans to replace the old Marina Bar & Grill building with a new one. (R. pp. ____–____

(Opp'n to Mot. for Temp. Inj., Aff. of M. Lawhown ¶ 7.) Throughout 2015 and 2016, Lawhon and his son, Chris, met with representatives from Gulfstream about this plan and the construction project it would entail. (R. pp. ___–___, ___–___ (Opp'n to Mot. for Temp. Inj., Aff. of C. Lawhown ¶¶ 11–23; Aff. of M. Lawhown ¶¶ 7–37).) At no time during these conversations did Gulfstream object to Palmetto Industrial's plans, including how the parking lot would be managed during construction. (R. pp. ___–___, ___–___ (Opp'n to Mot. for Temp. Inj., Aff. of C. Lawhown ¶¶ 11–23; Aff. of M. Lawhown ¶¶ 7–37).)

In early November 2016, Palmetto Industrial demolished the old Marina Bar & Grill building. Shortly after the old building came down and without any notice to Palmetto Industrial and Lawhon, Gulfstream filed this lawsuit. (R. pp. ___–___, ___ (Compl.; Opp'n to Mot. for Temp. Inj., Aff. of M. Lawhown ¶ 37).) Palmetto Industrial and Lawhon answered the complaint and filed counterclaims. (R. pp. ___–___ (Am. Answer and Countercls.))

Along with its complaint, Gulfstream sought and obtained a temporary restraining order that prohibited Lawhon and Palmetto Industrial from interfering with Gulfstream's easements and requiring any obstructions in the parking lot be removed. (R. pp. ___–___, ___–___ (Mot. for Temp. Res. Order; Nov. 17, 2016 Order).) The next day, Palmetto Industrial removed the temporary construction fencing that had been put up while the building was being torn down. (R. p. ___ (Opp'n to Mot. for Temp. Inj., Aff. of M. Lawhown ¶ 39).) The temporary restraining order expired on

December 5, 2016 at 10:00 AM. (R. p. ___ (Order Granting Ext. of Temp. Res. Order, p. 2).)

Gulfstream also moved for a preliminary injunction. (R. pp. ___–___ (Mem. in Supp. of Mot. for Temp. Inj.)) At a hearing on that motion on the same day the temporary restraining order expired, Gulfstream admitted that it sought to enjoin Palmetto Industrial from building its new building for the Marina Bar & Grill. (R. p. ___ (Dec. 5, 2016 Hr’g Tr. p. 55, lines 15–21).) Later that day, the circuit court indicated via email that it would grant the preliminary injunction, subject to certain conditions. (R. pp. ___–___ (Opp’n to First Mot. for Contempt, Ex. D).) The circuit court did not enter the order granting the injunction until August 24, 2017. (R. pp. ___–___, ___–___ (Order Granting Temp. Inj.; Am. Order Granting Temp. Inj.))

Gulfstream files its first motion to compel before the preliminary injunction is actually entered.

Three months before the circuit court entered the preliminary injunction,¹ Gulfstream moved to hold Lawhon and Palmetto Industrial in contempt. (R. pp. ___–___ (First Mot. for Contempt).) That motion was based on tents that Palmetto Industrial put up on the parking lot on a weekend in May 2017 that took up ten or

¹ At the hearing, the circuit court (Judge Culbertson presided over the preliminary injunction and the first contempt motion before the case was assigned to Judge John) disagreed with the contention that the injunction had not been entered by the Form 4 order dated December 5, 2016. (R. p. ___–___ (Sept. 28, 2017 Hr’g Tr. p. 19, line 7–p. 21, line 21).) The Form 4 order did not comply with Rule 65(d), SCRPC, which requires an injunction to set forth the reason for the injunction and identify specifically what a party is restrained from doing, without reference to any other document. The Form 4 order stated merely that the motion for a preliminary injunction was “granted” and Gulfstream’s counsel was to prepare a formal order. (R. p. ___ (Dec. 5, 2016 Order).) Nevertheless, this error is not at issue on appeal here.

twelve parking spaces, as part of a fishing tournament. (R. pp. ___–___ (First Mot. for Contempt, pp. 2–5).) In a supplement to its motion for contempt, Gulfstream also claimed that Lawhon and his son violated the injunction by calling the sheriff’s department on two occasions and claiming that window washers at Gulfstream were trespassing on Palmetto Industrial’s property. (R. pp. ___–___ (Suppl. to First Mot. for Contempt).)

In opposing that motion, Lawhon explained that multiple fishing tournaments were held every year at the marina, and since Palmetto Industrial purchased the marina in 2014, three tournaments had been held before the one that led to the motion for contempt. (R. pp. ___–___ (Opp’n to First Mot. for Contempt, Ex. G, ¶¶ 2–9).) This motion was the first time Gulfstream ever objected to Palmetto Industrial’s use of the tents for the fishing tournaments. (R. pp. ___–___ (Opp’n to First Mot. for Contempt, Ex. G, ¶ 4).) In fact, Gulfstream had supported and even sponsored previous fishing tournaments. (R. pp. ___–___ (Opp’n to First Mot. for Contempt, Ex. G, ¶¶ 5–7).) Moreover, while the tent was in the parking lot in May 2017, at least forty parking spaces were available still, and the parking lot was never full. (R. p. ___ (Opp’n to First Mot. for Contempt, Ex. G, ¶ 11).)

As for the window washers, the sheriff’s deputy who responded to the call about the window washers said that Chris Lawhon stated he called the sheriff’s department because he “was afraid the window washers were going to fall off the ladders into oyster beds and injure themselves.” (R. p. ___ (May 30, 2018 Weaver Aff. ¶ 3).) The deputy agreed the situation was dangerous. (R. p. ___ (May 30, 2018 Weaver Aff. ¶

4.) Nothing the deputy did in response to the phone call about the window washers prevented them from completing their task. (R. p. ___ (May 30, 2018 Weaver Aff. ¶ 8).)

This dispute over the tent continued into the late summer, before the motion for contempt was decided. Gulfstream again objected to Palmetto Industrial’s plan to put up a tent for an October 2017 fishing tournament. (R. pp. ___–___ (Sept. 14, 2017 Suppl. M. Lawhon Aff.).)

Still before the circuit court decided the first motion for contempt, Gulfstream complained further that Lawhon and Palmetto Industrial were violating an order. Gulfstream claimed that orange cones had been put in the parking lot. (R. pp. ___–___, ___–___ (Sept. 25, 2017 Barnaba Aff.; Sept. 25, 2017 Kirk Aff.).) These cones, however, were put in places that were not actually parking spaces and over a protruding metal cap to keep cars from hitting it. (R. pp. ___–___ (Sept. 26, 2017 Second Suppl. M. Lawhon Aff.).)

The circuit court granted the motion for contempt in part. It held that Lawhon violated the “prior court order” (the circuit court did not specify what order) during the May 2017 fishing tournament, but the court imposed no sanction. (R. p. ___ (Sept. 28, 2017 Order, p. 2).) In fact, the circuit court granted a motion to amend the preliminary injunction to allow Palmetto Industrial and Lawhon to use up to twelve parking spaces each May and October for fishing tournaments. (R. p. ___ (Sept. 28, 2017 Order, p. 3); *see also* R. pp. ___–___ (Mot. to Reconsider Am. Order Granting Temp. Inj.).) The circuit court held that the cones did not violate any order. (R. p. ___

(Sept. 28, 2017 Order, p. 2.) But it did hold Lawhon in criminal contempt for calling the sheriff's department about the window washers and imposed a \$3,000 fine. (R. p. ___ (Sept. 28, 2017 Order, p. 2).)

The case is tried in June 2018, and the court enters a permanent injunction.

After a six-day trial in June 2018, the jury found for Gulfstream on its claim for interference with the easements. (R. p. ___ (Verdict Form, p. 1).) After it initially awarded \$0, Judge John instructed the jury it must award some amount of monetary damages as its verdict finding in Gulfstream's favor was inconsistent with the award of \$0. Ultimately, the jury came back with an award of \$1,000, which has been paid. (R. pp. ___, ___ (Verdict Form, p. 1; Partial Satisf. of J.)) The jury awarded no punitive damages. (R. p. ___–___ (Punitive Damages Verdict Form).) The jury also found for Gulfstream on Palmetto Industrial and Lawhon's claims for trespass (related to the location of Gulfstream's dumpster) and breach of the easement (related to the cost of maintaining the parking lot). (R. p. ___ (Verdict Form, p. 2).)

Based on the verdict, the circuit court entered a permanent injunction prohibiting Palmetto Industrial and Lawhon from "preventing [Gulfstream] from enjoying the right granted to it in the recorded nonexclusive joint easement." (R. p. ___ (June 21, 2018 Order, p. 2).) The injunction also provided that Palmetto Industrial and Lawhon "may not expand the outside boundaries of any new building beyond those previously used."² (R. p. ___ (June 21, 2018 Order, p. 2).)

² The injunction was amended to specify that the "outside boundaries" were those depicted in an old plat book. (R. p. ___ (July 27, 2018 Order, p. 2).) Gulfstream later filed a third contempt motion based on underground pilings for the new building

Gulfstream files a second motion for contempt.

The same day the circuit court entered its injunction, Gulfstream moved again to hold Palmetto Industrial and Lawhon in contempt. That motion is the focus of this appeal. In that motion, Gulfstream claimed that Chris Lawhon parked a golf cart in front of a delivery gate at Gulfstream’s restaurant in July 2018, which made delivering food more difficult. (R. pp. ___–___ (Second Mot. for Contempt); *see also* R. pp. ___–___ (Reply in Supp. of Second Mot. for Contempt).)

Beyond the motion, Gulfstream alleged that Palmetto Industrial and Lawhon violated the injunction in other ways. For instance, Gulfstream claimed that Palmetto Industrial and Lawhon “failed to operate” the parking-lot lights some evenings. (R. pp. ___, ___ (Opp’n to Second Mot. for Contempt Ex. H; Nov. 7, 2018 Kirk Aff.)) It also claimed that a box truck and boat trailers were parked “near the area” where deliveries were made to Gulfstream, that Chris Lawhon parked his truck partially on Gulfstream’s property, and that Mark Lawhon parked his car across from Gulfstream’s delivery gate, in an attempt to block deliveries. (R. pp. ___, ___ (Opp’n to Second Mot. for Contempt Ex. J, p. 1; Nov. 7, 2018 Kirk Aff. ¶ 8).)

Palmetto Industrial and Lawhon offered responses to each of these allegations. As for the golf cart, Chris Lawhon was driving the golf cart because his car was being repaired, and he parked near Gulfstream’s restaurant (in a designated parking space) because, when he arrives at the marina before 6:00 AM, he wants to stay out of the

(because they are underground, they have no effect on anyone’s use of the parking lot), but Gulfstream withdrew that motion the day before the hearing. (R. pp. ___–___, ___–___ (Third Mot. for Contempt; Withdrawal of Mot. for Contempt).)

way of people arriving for fishing charters. (R. p. ____ (Opp'n to Second Mot. for Contempt Ex. G, ¶¶ 2, 3).) He walked away from the marina one day simply because he dropped something from the golf cart. (R. p. ____ (Nov. 14, 2018 Hr'g Tr. p. 32, lines 13–15).) Only after Chris Lawhon had parked in this spot did Gulfstream put up a no-parking sign there (a sign which the easements gave Gulfstream no authority to put up), and even with this sign posted, Gulfstream still allowed its employees to park in that spot, despite vendors making deliveries at those times. (R. pp. ____–____, ____–____ (Opp'n to Second Mot. for Contempt Ex. G, ¶¶ 4–15; Suppl. Opp'n to Second Mot. for Contempt).)

On the other issues, the lights did not work properly because a new sprinkler system at the nearby condo complex soaked Palmetto Industrial's electrical panel box; the problem was soon fixed. (R. p. ____, ____, ____ (Opp'n to Second Mot. for Contempt Ex. I, ¶¶ 5–7; Nov. 12, 2018 C. Lawhon Aff., ¶¶ 9–11 & Ex. A).) The box truck and trailers did not, in fact, block any deliveries, and Gulfstream's operating manager, Jef Kirk, and other employees have parked in those same spaces. (R. pp. ____–____, ____–____, ____–____ (Opp'n to Second Mot. for Contempt Ex. G, ¶¶ 14–19, 25–26; Ex. I, ¶¶ 8–14).) Finally, Chris Lawhon's truck being parked partially on Gulfstream's property for forty-four minutes while a charter boat was having its oil changed did not prevent any deliveries from being made. (R. p. ____ (Opp'n to Second Mot. for Contempt Ex. G, ¶ 24).)

The parties disputed much of these issues. For instance, Gulfstream claimed that Jef Kirk texted Chris Lawhon about the golf cart, but Chris Lawhon denied

receiving those messages. (*Compare* R. pp. ___–___ (Nov. 7, 2018 Kirk Aff. ¶¶ 2–4), *with* R. p. __ (Nov. 12, 2018 C. Lawhon Aff. ¶ 3.) Gulfstream claimed its employees parked near the delivery gate to prevent the Lawhons from parking there, but Chris Lawhon said the employees “rarely, if ever” move their cars. (*Compare* R. p. ___ (Nov. 7, 2018 Kirk Aff. ¶ 6), *with* R. pp. ___–___ (Nov. 12, 2018 C. Lawhon Aff. ¶¶ 5–6).) And Gulfstream claimed that boat trailers were not typically parked in the lot for multiple weeks, but Chris Lawhon noted that the marina’s customers “routinely” parked boat trailers in the parking lot. (*Compare* R. p. ___ (Nov. 7, 2018 Kirk Aff. ¶ 9, *with* R. pp. ___–___ (Nov. 12, 2018 C. Lawhon Aff. ¶¶ 7–8).)

The circuit court held a hearing on the second contempt motion on November 14, 2018. (R. pp. ___–___ (Nov. 14, 2018 Hr’g Tr.)) That court found Palmetto Industrial and Lawhon in criminal contempt for “deliberate and intentional acts by placement of the golf cart which interfered with the proper use of the non-exclusive easement in this matter and was in direct violation of the Court’s previous order.” (R. p. ___ (Nov. 14, 2018 Order).) The court’s order included no other details or factual findings. Palmetto Industrial and Lawhon were ordered to pay a fine of \$5,000. (R. p. ___ (Nov. 14, 2018 Order).)

Palmetto Industrial and Lawhon moved to reconsider on November 21, 2018. (R. pp. ___–___ (Mot. to Alter or Amend Nov. 14, 2018 Order).) That motion was emailed and hand delivered to Judge John on December 12, 2018. (R. pp. ___–___ (Emails between court and counsel).) Despite Gulfstream’s request that the circuit court deny the motion as untimely delivered to the circuit court under Rule 59(g),

SCRCP, the circuit court nevertheless requested written arguments from both sides by July 1, 2019, in lieu of a hearing. (R. pp. ___–___ (Emails between court and counsel); *see also* R. pp. ___–___, ___–___ (July 1, 2019 briefs from both parties).)

The circuit court ultimately denied the motion to reconsider. It did so because the motion was not submitted to Judge John within ten days and because, according to the circuit court, the “evidence made clear [Palmetto Industrial and Lawhon] willfully, voluntarily, and intentionally disobeyed the Court’s Permanent Injunction by interfering with the easement.” (R. pp. ___–___ (Aug. 7, 2019 Order).) The order included no further discussion of that evidence.

Palmetto Industrial and Lawhon timely appealed. (R. pp. ___–___ (Notice of Appeal).)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court reviews a finding of contempt for abuse of discretion. *Ex parte Cannon*, 385 S.C. 643, 660, 685 S.E.2d 814, 823 (Ct. App. 2009). A finding of contempt should be reversed whenever “it is without evidentiary support or the circuit court abused its discretion.” *Id.* A circuit court abuses its discretion when it lacks evidentiary support for its decision or makes an error of law. *Graves v. CAS Med. Sys., Inc.*, 401 S.C. 63, 74, 735 S.E.2d 650, 655 (2012).

ARGUMENT

I. Parking the golf cart in front of Gulfstream’s delivery gate did not violate the injunction.

It is axiomatic that a party may be held in criminal contempt only for violating a court order. *See, e.g., Miller v. Miller*, 375 S.C. 443, 454, 652 S.E.2d 754, 759 (Ct.

App. 2007) (“Contempt results from the willful disobedience of an order of the court.”). Here, the injunction does not prohibit Palmetto Industrial or Lawhon from parking in a designated parking space in front of Gulfstream’s delivery gate. The circuit court therefore abused its discretion concluding that Palmetto Industrial and Lawhon violated the injunction and holding them in criminal contempt.

A. The order prevented Palmetto Industrial and Lawhon only from interfering with Gulfstream’s easement rights.

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