THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GEORGETOWN COUNTY
IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
THE HONORABLE STEVEN H. JOHN
CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE

Case No. 2016-CP-22-00961
Appellate Case No. 2019-001446

RECEIVED
Apr 13 2020
SC Court of Appeals

The Gulfstream Café, Inc., Respondent,

v.

Palmetto Industrial Development, LLC, and J. Mark Lawhon, Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

George W. Redman, Esq. (SC Bar No.72365)
BELLAMY, RUTENBERG, COPELAND,
EPPS, GRAVELY & BOWERS, P.A.
Post Office Box 357
Myrtle Beach, SC 29578-0357
(843) 448-2400
GRedman@bellamylaw.com
Counsel for Respondent

Simon H. Bloom
Adam D. Nugent
BLOOM PARHAM, LLP
977 Ponce de Leon Ave., NE

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

ARGUMENT

I. Appellants are Barred from Challenging the Scope of the Circuit Court's Permanent Injunction or the Language Contained in that Injunction.

Appellants' first issue on appeal is that the injunction is insufficiently detailed and that the easements on which the injunction are based do not bar Appellants' conduct. These contentions represent a backdoor challenge to the permanent injunction, which Appellants forfeited when they declined to appeal the entry of that order. The permanent injunction is the law of the case, and Appellants are barred from challenging its scope or the language contained in it. Moreover, even if the Court considered the substance of this challenge to the permanent injunction, Appellants' arguments are meritless.

A. **The Law of the Case Doctrine Bars Relitigation of Unappealed Orders.**

Under the law of the case doctrine, a party is precluded from relitigating issues determined in a lower court order when the party voluntarily abandons its appeal of that order. Hudson ex rel. Hudson v. Lancaster Convalescent Ctr., 407 S.C. 112, 754 S.E.2d 486 (2014). This doctrine applies both to matters that were not raised on appeal, but should have been, and matters that were raised on appeal, but were expressly rejected by the court. Judy v. Martin, 381 S.C. 455, 458, 674 S.E.2d 151, 153 (2009). Further, a party who withdraws an appeal of a ruling is bound by the law of the case doctrine. Matter of Morrison, 321 S.C. 370, n. 2, 468 S.E.2d 651, n. 2 (1996). As explained by the Court in Morrison, an unappealed ruling becomes the law of the case and precludes further consideration of the issue on appeal. Id.; see also Doran v. Doran, 288 S.C. 477, 478, 343 S.E.2d 618, 619 (1986) (holding that no objection can be made to an appealable order from which no appeal was actually taken). The purpose of the law of the case doctrine is to promote the finality of the judicial process by protecting against the agitation of

settled issues. Flexon v. PHC-Jasper, Inc., 413 S.C. 561, 573, 776 S.E.2d 397, 404 (Ct. App. 2015).

The opinion in Hudson is particularly on point. The appellant in Hudson unsuccessfully challenged the validity of a worker's compensation award on abatement grounds. Hudson ex rel. Hudson, 407 S.C. at 119. The appellant filed a notice of appeal regarding the abatement issue but later withdrew the appeal. Id. When a subsequent dispute arose regarding payment of the award, the appellant reasserted its prior challenges to the validity of the award. Id. The circuit court, Court of Appeals, and Supreme Court all held that the appellant could not challenge the order on abatement grounds because the order was unappealed and therefore law of the case. Id.

B. Appellants' Current Arguments About Scope and Language of the Injunction Are Barred by Law of the Case.

Appellants spend multiple pages in their brief arguing generally about the language of the injunction and the rights afforded to Gulfstream under the permanent easement. Critically, these exact arguments were contained in Appellants' Motion to Alter or Amend the Court's permanent injunction (the "Motion to Amend Injunction") (R. pp. 913-1073), which the circuit court considered and denied. (R. pp. 42-44.) Appellants appealed that order but then withdrew the appeal (R. pp. 1314-1322; R. p. 48.) At that point, Appellants lost their right to challenge these aspects of the injunction pursuant to the law of the case doctrine.

1. Appellants Unsuccessfully Contested the Scope of the Permanent Injunction But Declined to Pursue an Appeal on that Subject.

In June 2018 the circuit court entered its permanent injunction, which enjoined Appellants from interfering with the rights granted to Gulfstream in the easements. Following entry of the permanent injunction, Appellants raised concerns about the scope of this injunction and the language contained therein. Specifically, in their Motion to Amend Injunction,

Appellants argued that the permanent injunction improperly enlarged Gulfstream's easement rights by allowing Gulfstream to block Appellants from parking in specific areas of the parking lot. (R. pp. 917-918.) Appellants further claimed that the injunction could not block Appellants from accessing portions of the parking lot property because the underlying easements were nonexclusive. (R. p. 918.)

Moreover, Appellants made clear in their Motion to Amend Injunction that they were concerned with the very conduct at issue in the Contempt Order. At the time Appellants filed their Motion to Amend Injunction, they had already engaged in the contemptuous conduct, and Appellants attached Gulfstream's Motion for Contempt to their Motion to Amend Injunction. (R. pp. 919, 977-1008.) Appellants argued in the Motion to Amend Injunction that the contempt motion represented an attempt by Gulfstream to enlarge its easement rights. (R. p. 919.) Appellants further included a picture of the area below the delivery gate in their motion and claimed that "Gulfstream (Respondent) has no right to appropriate parking spaces for its sole use but apparently now it believes it can take such actions due to the Permanent Injunction." (*Id.*)

The circuit court considered all of these arguments raised by Appellants but ultimately denied the Motion to Amend Injunction. (R. pp. 42-44.) In doing so, the circuit court necessarily rejected Appellants' claims that the permanent injunction improperly enlarged Gulfstream's easement rights and improperly restricted the portions of the parking lot available to Appellants. At this point, Appellants' challenge to the scope of the permanent injunction was ripe for review. But, as explained above, when Appellants withdrew their appeal (R. p. 48), the injunction became law of the case, and they forever lost their right to challenge it.

2. The Current Appeal Recycles the Exact Same Arguments from the Previous Challenge Made by Appellants.

The first ground raised by Appellants in their current appeal covers the exact arguments they made in the Motion to Amend Injunction. First, Appellants argue that the rights under the easement are joint and non-exclusive, such that Gulfstream “is not entitled to the sole use of any specific spaces in the parking lot.” (Initial Br. of Appellants, p. 14.) Appellants further argue that they could not violate the injunction by blocking Gulfstream’s delivery gate with a vehicle because they are entitled to use the exact same spaces as Gulfstream. (Initial Br. of Appellants, p. 15.) This argument plainly repeats Appellants’ position that the permanent injunction enlarged Gulfstream’s easement rights. (R. p. 918.) Appellants asked the circuit court to clarify that the permanent injunction did not bar it from parking in specific spaces (such as in front of the delivery gate), and the circuit court declined the invitation. The present appeal is not the forum for Appellants to relitigate that issue.

Appellants also contend that the circuit court misread the easements on which the injunction and Contempt Order are based. (Initial Br. of Appellants, p. 14.) The crux of Appellants’ position is that the easement⁶ covers only ingress, egress, and parking, and is silent about which parking spaces Appellants can access. (Initial Br. of Appellants, p. 15.) Again, Appellants raised this very argument with the trial court in their Motion to Amend Injunction when they asked the court to find that Gulfstream could not appropriate parking spaces for its sole use on the ground that the easements contained nonexclusive language. (R. p. 918.) The circuit court rejected that request, and the content of the permanent injunction cannot now be challenged.

The present situation is nearly identical to that presented in the Hudson case. Appellants received an unfavorable order when the permanent injunction was entered. Appellants

⁶ The parties entered into several easement agreements, all of which grant identical rights to the parking lot. (See generally R. pp. 57-58 ¶¶ 14-15.)

challenged the scope of the order, including the specific issue of whether the order barred Appellants from blocking Gulfstream's delivery gate. When Appellants declined to fully pursue that challenge to the permanent injunction order, the order became law of the case. As with the appellant in Hudson, Appellants cannot now resurrect the prior challenge. This result is completely consistent with the purpose underlying the law-of-the-case doctrine, which is to promote finality of orders and prevent repeated challenges to matters that should be settled. The bottom line is that Appellants would like for this Court to find that the permanent injunction does not prohibit them from using a vehicle to intentionally block access to Gulfstream's delivery gate, but Appellants missed their chance to obtain review of the permanent injunction and are therefore bound by its language.

C. Appellants' Challenge to the Scope of the Permanent Injunction is Meritless.

Even if Appellants were permitted to challenge the scope and language of the permanent injunction in this appeal, their arguments are baseless. Appellants contend that the permanent injunction failed to expressly prohibit the conduct at issue in this case. (Initial Br. of Appellants, p. 13.) This is untrue. The circuit court plainly stated that Appellants were barred from denying Gulfstream the rights contained in the permanent easement. (R. pp. 33-35; R. pp. 39-41.) Those easement rights expressly include ingress, egress and parking on the parking lot area. (R. pp. 66-76.) And, critically, the easement agreement executed by the parties in 1990 extended the easement rights to Gulfstream's agents and invitees. (*Id.*) This means that persons delivering food or other products to the Gulfstream restaurant may access the easement in the same manner as Gulfstream itself. When Appellants used a golf cart to block access to the Gulfstream delivery gate, they prevented delivery persons from parking in that portion of the parking lot.

(R. pp. 869-877.) This conduct interfered with the express rights granted in the easement and willfully violated the permanent injunction, which prohibited such interference.

Appellants' argument on this subject overlooks the fact that the rights Appellants violated are the clearly stated rights to ingress, egress, and parking. Appellants contend that Chris Lawhon did not prevent anyone from parking in the parking lot, but the reality is that his conduct intentionally precluded delivery persons from using the portion of the parking lot necessary to access the delivery gate. As such, this conduct prevented Gulfstream's agents/invitees from enjoying the full and free right to access the easement area in direct contravention of the plain language of the easement. While Appellants claim that they merely used a parking space, it was the circuit court's job to hear evidence and determine whether Appellants properly used the space or whether they willfully violated the court's permanent injunction and improperly interfered with Gulfstream's easement rights.

Appellants also claim that the circuit court should have expressly barred Appellants from blocking the Gulfstream delivery gate. (Initial Br. of Appellants, p. 16.) There was no need for the circuit court to specifically identify the delivery gate, because that represents just one way in which Appellants could interfere with Gulfstream's easement rights. Given Appellants' history of interfering with the Gulfstream easement, the circuit court was right to broadly enjoin all interference. There is no uncertainty about what that broad prohibition means—any time Appellants act to deny Gulfstream the full and free rights to ingress, egress, and parking, they interfere with the easement and violate the injunction. In this case, the circuit court still had to determine if its order had been willfully violated, but there was never uncertainty regarding what rights were implicated. The Court should therefore decline to entertain Appellants' arguments regarding the scope of the permanent injunction order.

II. The Circuit Court's Contempt Order Was Supported by Sufficient Evidence.

Appellants next contend that the circuit court's Contempt Order was not supported by the evidence in the record. Critically, this Court is limited to determining whether evidence existed in the record that enabled the circuit court to exercise its discretion in entering the Contempt Order. Miller, 375 S.C. at 461. A contempt order can only be reversed if it is without evidentiary support. Rhoad v. State, 372 S.C. 100, 104–05, 641 S.E.2d 35, 37 (Ct. App. 2007). The circuit court possessed the discretion to determine the credibility of witnesses and assign weight to their statements. Id.; accord Shirley, 342 S.C. at 329.

Reviewing the evidence using the correct standard confirms that the circuit court did not err in holding Appellants in contempt. It is undisputed that Chris Lawhon repeatedly parked a golf cart in a space that blocked Gulfstream's delivery gate. (R. pp. 869-877.) It is likewise undisputed that the golf cart stayed in place for multiple days, even after Gulfstream's employees asked Mr. Lawhon to move it. (*Id.*) And there is no dispute that Mr. Lawhon's father, Appellant Mark Lawhon, engaged in the exact same conduct of blocking the Gulfstream deliver gate when the dispute between the parties first arose in 2016. (R. p. 427 ¶¶ 11-14; R. pp. 430-471.)

In the face of this undisputed evidence, Appellants make two unpersuasive arguments. First, Appellants claim that Gulfstream occasionally received deliveries through the front door of the restaurant. (Initial Br. of Appellants, p. 18.) Even if that were true, Gulfstream's manager, Jef Kirk, submitted a sworn affidavit explaining the harm that Gulfstream's operations suffered when its delivery gate was blocked. (R. pp. 869-877.) Appellants do not dispute the content of the affidavit, and they certainly cannot argue that Gulfstream never used the delivery gate. Further, Gulfstream submitted photographs depicting food delivery trucks being unable to access the elevated delivery gate due to the presence of the golf cart (*Id.*) Given this evidence, the fact

that Gulfstream received limited deliveries through its front door does not in any way undermine the Contempt Order.

Appellants next claim that contempt is inappropriate because Chris Lawhon did not intend to block access to Gulfstream's delivery gate. (Initial Br. of Appellants, p. 18-19.) Appellants argue, in essence, that Chris Lawhon's conduct was an inadvertent, rather than willful, violation of the permanent injunction. This argument is based solely on the self-serving affidavit presented by Mr. Lawhon. The circuit court had the opportunity to review that affidavit and to assess whether the statements contained therein were credible. The circuit court was in an ideal position to consider Chris Lawhon's credibility given that the court had previously heard Mr. Lawhon testify at trial. The circuit court did not abuse its discretion in declining to believe Mr. Lawhon's self-serving statements and finding an intentional violation of the injunction.

Setting aside credibility determinations, the objective facts and circumstances surrounding Chris Lawhon's conduct, when viewed in the full context of the parties' dispute, fully support the conclusion that he willfully violated the permanent injunction. Chris Lawhon placed his golf cart in the same parking spot and left it there for days on end, despite the fact that Gulfstream employees asked him to move it, and despite the fact that there were dozens of empty spaces in the parking lot. (R. pp. 869-877.) His father engaged in the exact same conduct at the inception of the case—he used a vehicle to prevent Gulfstream from accessing its delivery gate and refused to move. (R. p. 427 ¶¶ 11-14; R. pp. 430-471.) Chris Lawhon's conduct was no innocent coincidence—it was a reprise of his father's previous, intentional interference. On this record, the circuit court was amply justified in finding Appellants in contempt.

III. The Circuit Court Did Not Err in Denying Appellants' Motion to Reconsider.

Appellants' next issue on appeal wholly mischaracterizes the record below. Appellants claim that the circuit court erred by denying Appellants' motion to alter or amend the Contempt Order as untimely. This statement is patently incorrect.

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